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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 23 -20084 -CR — Withiewny

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

VS.
ALVARO LEDO NASS,

Defendant.
/

PLEA AGREEMENT

The United States Attorney’s Office for the Southefn Dis_trict of Florida and the United
States Department of Justice, Criminal Division, Fraud Section (collectively, “the Offices”) and
ALVARO LEDO NASS (hereinafter referred to as the “defendant™) enter into the following

‘ agreement:

1. The defendant understands that he has the right to have the evidence and charge
against him presented to a federal grand jury for determination of whether there is ﬁrobable cause
to believe he committed the offense for which he is charged. Understanding that righ;t, and after
full and complete consultation with his counsel, the defendant agrees to waive in open court his
right to proSecutioﬁ by Indictment, agrees to waive any challenges to the statute of limitations.or'

WA ﬁ '

venue, and agrees that the Offices may proceed by way of a Supesseding Information filed pursuant AA 71}24/
to Rule 7 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.

pe-PAD O
2. The defendant agrees to plead guilty to the offense in the %ﬁﬁaﬁgg@g /{ AW '

Information, which charges the defendant with conspiracy to commit money laundering, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 1957(a).

Al



3. The defendant is aware that the sentence will be imposed by the Court after
considéring the advisory Federal Sentencing Guidelines and Policy Statements (hereinafter
“Sentencing Guidelines™), as well as other factors enumerated in Title 18, United States Code,

Section 3553(a). The defendant acknowledges and understands‘that the Court will compute an

advisory sentencing guideline range under the Sentencing Guidelines and that the applicable

guidélines will be determined by the Court relying in part on the results of a pre-sentence

investigation by the Court’s probation office, which investigation will commence after the guilty.

plea has been entered. The defendant is also aware that, under certain circumstances, the Court .

may depart from the advisory sentencing guideline range that it has computed, and may raise or
lower that advisory sentence under the Sentencing Guidelineé. The défendant is further aware
and understands that the Court is required to consider the advisory guideline range determined
under the Sentencing Guidelines, but is not bound to impose a sentence within that advisory raﬁge;
the Court is permitted to tailor the ultimate sentence in light of other stétutory concerns, and such

sentence may be either more severe or less severe than the Sentencing Guidelines’ advisory range.

* Knowing these facts, the defendant understands and acknowledges that the Court has the authority
to impose any sentence within and up to the statutory maximum authorized by law for the offense

identified in paragraph 2 and that the defendant may not withdraw the plea solely as a result of the

sentence imposed.

4. The defendant also understands and acknowledges that the Court may impose a

term of imprisonment of up to 10 years, followed by a term of supervised release of up to 3 years. .

In addition to a term of imprisonment and supervised release, the Court may impose a fine of up
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to $500,000 or twice the amount of the criminally derived property involi/ed in the transactions,
whichever is greater, and may order criminal forfeiture and restitution.

5. The defendant further understands and acknowledges that, in addition to any
sentence imposed under paragraph 3 of this agreement, a special assessment in the amount of $100
will be imposed on the defendant. The defendant agrees that any special assessment imposed
shall be paid at the time of sentencing. If the defendant is financially unable to pay the special
assessment, the defendant agrees to present evidence to the Offices and the Court at the time of
sentencing as to the reasons for the defendant’s failure to pay.

6. The Offices reserve the right to inform the Court and the probation office of all
facts pertinent to the sentencing process, including all relevant information concerning the offenses
committed, whether charged or not, as well as concerning the defendnnt and the defendant’s
background. Subject only to the express terms of any agreed-upon sentencing recommendations
eontained in this agreement, the Offices further reserve the right to make any recommendation as
to the quality and quantity of pUnishment.

7. The Offices agree that they will recommend at sentencing that the Court reduce by

~ two levels the sentencing guideline level applicable to the defendant’s offense, pursuant to Section

3E1.1(a) of the Sentencing Guidelines, based upon the defendant’s recognition and affirmative
and-tiinely acceptance of personal responsibility. If at the time of sentencing the defendant’s
offense level is determined to be 16 or greater, the Offices will file a motion requesting an
additional one level decrease pursuant to Section 3E1.1(b) of the Sentencing Guidelines, stating
that the defendant has assisted authorities in the investigation or prosecution of the defendant’s

own misconduct by timely notifying authorities of the defendant’s intention to enter a plea of
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guilty, theréby permitting the government to avoid preparing for trial and permitting the
government and the Court to allocate their resources efficiently. The Offices, however, will not.

be required to make this motion if the defendant: (a) fails or refuses to make a full, accurate and.

cdmplete disclosure to the probation office of the circumstances surrounding the relevant offense

conduct; (b) is found to have misrepresented facts to the government prior to entering into this plea

agreement; (c) commits any misconduct after entering into this pléa agreement, including but not
- limited to committing a state or federal offense, violating any term of release, or making false

- statements or misrepresentations to any governmental entity or official; or, (d) fails to fully assist

in the forfeiture of assets as set forth in this plea agreemént.

8. The defendant agrees that the defendant shall cqoperate- fully with the Offices by:
(g) providing truthful and complete information and testimony, and producin‘g documents, records
and other evidence, when called upon by the Offices, whether in interviews, before a grand jury, |
or at any trial or other Court proceeding; (b) appearing at such grand jury proceedings, hearings,
trials, and other judicia1 proceedings, and at meétings, as may be required by thé Offices; and (c) if
requested by the Offices, working in an undercover role under the supervision of, and in

compliance with, law enforcement officers and agents. Any assistance the defendant may provide

. to the United States federal criminal investigators shall be pursuant to the specific instructions and

control of the Offices and designatgd United States investigators. In addition, the defendant
agrees that he will not protect any person or entity through false information or omission, that he
will not falsely implipate any persén or entity, and that he that he will not commit any further
crimes. _The defendant further agrees not to reveal his cooperation, or any information derived

therefrom, to any third party without prior consent of the Government.
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0. The Offices acknowledge that the defendant has rendered substantial assistance in
the mvesngatlon or prosecutlon of another person who has committed an offense. Pursuant to
- Title 18, United States Code Section 3553(e), and/or Section 5K1.1 of the Sentencing Guidelines,
the Offices agree to move at the time of sentencing for a departure by the Court from the advisory
range calculated under the Sentencing Guidelines. The defendant understands and acknowledges
that the Court is under no obligation to grant the Offices’ motion for a reduction or a downward ~
departure. |
10. - The Offices reserve the right to evaluate the nature and extent of the defendant’s :
ongoing cooperation and to make that ongoing cooperation, or lack thereof, known to the Court.
If in the sole and unreviewable judgment of the Offices the defendant’s ongoing cooperation is of
such quality and significance to the investigation or prosecution of other criminal matters as to
warrant the Court’s downward departure from the advisory sentencing range calculated under the j'
‘ Sentencing Guidelines and/or any dpi)licable minimum mandatory sentence, the Offices may make
amotion subsequent to sentencing pursuant to Rule 35 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure,
|
informing the Court that the defendant has prdvided substantial assistance and recommending that :
the defendant’s .sentence be reduced. The defendant understands and agrees, hdwever, that
- nothing in. this agreement requires the Offices to file any such motions, dnd that the Offices’
“assessment of ‘fhe quality and signiﬁcance of the defendant’s ongoing cooperation shall be binding
as it relates to the appropriateness of the Offices’ filing or non-filing of a motion to reduce
~ sentence.
11. The defendant understands and acknowledges that the Court is under no obligation

to grant a motion for reduction of sentence filed by the Offices. In addition, the defendant further
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understands and acknowledges that the Court is under no obligation of any type to reduce the
defendant’s sentence because of the defendant’s cooperation.

12.  In the event that the defendant chooses to seek a Variaﬁce froﬁl the sen‘tencing.
guideline range, the defendant further agrees that anysuch application shall be filed in wriﬁng
with the Court and served on the United States no later than the deadline for submitting objections

~ to the Pré—Sentence Investigation Report stated in Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32(H)(1),
subject to any extension of ﬁme agreed upon between the parties or ordered by thé Court.

13. This Office and the defendant agree that, although not binding on the probation
office or the Court, they will jointly recomménd that the Court make the follc')wingVﬁndings and
conclusions as to the sentence to be imposed:

6] The Base Offense Level is properly calculated under Section 2S1.1(a)(1) of

t-he‘ Sentencing Guidelines ’and is 36 because the base qffense level is 16 (14 for public
official plus 2 for more than one bribe) and there is a 20-level increase pufsuant to the table'
in Section 2B1.1(b)(1) because the vélue of the payment exceeds $9,500,000; | |

(i) The defendant should receive a 1-level enhancement because the defendant
was convicted under 18 U.S.C. § 1957 pursuant to Section 281.1 (b)(2)(A)-of the Sentencing
Guidelines;

(iii) No other adjustments apply, save for Acceptance of Responsibility in

accordance with Paragraph 7 above and Section 3E1.1;

(iv) The Total Offense Level is 37 less any adjustment for Acceptance of ‘

Responsibility; and
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(V) Based on a Criminal History Category of I and a Total Offense Level of 37,
the defendant’s advisory sentencing guideline range is 210 months to 262 months
imprisonment before any adjustment for Acceptance of Responsibility. Because the
offense has a '10-year stavtu‘torilyl, authorizé'd. 'filéximum sentence, pursuant -to Secﬁon
5G1.1(a), the advisory sentencing guideline range is 120 months of imprisonment.

14.  Although not bindirig on the probation office or the Coui’t, the Offices and the‘
defendant further agree that, except as otherwise expressly contemplated in this agreement, they
will jointly recommend that the Court neither ‘depart upward nor depart downward'under the
Sentencing Guidelines when determining the advisory sentencing guidelihe range in this case.

15.  The defendant is aware that the sentence has not yet been determined by the Court.
The defendant also is aware that any estimate of the probable sentencing range or sentence that the
defendant may receive, whether that estimate comes from the defendant’s attorney, thé Offices, or‘
the probation office, is a prediction, not a promise, and is not binding on thg Offices, the probation
omce or the Court. The defendant understands further that any recommendation that the Offices
make to the Court as to sentencing, whether pursuaht to this agreement or otherwise, is not binding
on the Court and the Court may disregard the recommendation in its entirety. The defendant
understands and acknowledges, as previously acknowledged in paragraph 3 above, that the

. defendant may not withdraw his plea based upon the Court’s decision no;[ to accept a sentencing
recommendation made by the defendant, the Offices, or a recommendation made jointly by‘the
defendant and the Offices.

16.  This plea resolves thé defendant’s federal criminal liability with regard to the

Offices for conducted related to that described in the Factual Proffer except criminal tax liability

Al
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(as to which the Offices do not have authority to make any agreement). The defendant understands

that this agreemeﬁt is binding only as to the Offices and only relating to conduct described in the |

- Factual Proffer.

| 17.  The defendant agrees, in an individual and any other capécity, to forfeit to the
‘ United States, Voluntafily and immediately, any right, title, and interest to any broperty, real or
! personal, involved in the c@mrﬂission -of the offense, in violation- of 18 U.S.C. § 1956, or any -

" property tracéable to such property, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(1), and the provisions of 21

U.S.C. § 853. In addition, the defendant agrees to the forfeiture of sﬁbstitute property pursuant

to 21 U.S.C. § 853(p). The property subject to forfeiture includes, but is. not limited to:

3 a. a forfeiture money judgment in the sum of up to $li,510,025.00 in U.S. currency,
which sum represents thé value of the property involved in the offense of convicﬁon
that the defendant obtained in accounts h-ev éontrolled; .and

b. substitute property, including, but not limited to:
a. All assets on déposit in account numbers 12687.03 and 12687.05 at Portmann
Capitai Management Ltd., held in the narﬁe of Central Investment Holdings,
L.P;
b. All assets on deposit in account numbers 584773.121.3 and 584773.120.5 at
EFG Bank S.A., held in the name of Vermon Globai Inc.; and
c. All assets on deposit at Union Bancaire Privée, UBP SA (f/k/é Millennium -
Banque Priveé), in accounts held in the name of a Ledo Nass.
18.  The defendant further agrees that forfeiture is independent of any assessment, fine,

cost, restitution, or penalty that may be imposed by the Court. The defendant knoWingly and
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Voluﬁtarily agrees to waive all constitutional, legal, and equitable defenses to the forfeituf;ca,
including excessive fines under the Eighth Amendment to the United: States Constitution. In
addition, the defendant agrees to waive: any appliéable time limits for administrative or Jjudicial
forfeiture proceedings; the requireﬁlents of Fed. Rs. Crim. P. 32.2 and 43(a), and any appeal 6f the
forfeiture. |
19.  The defeﬁdant also agrees to fully and truthfully disclose the existence, natu}e and
location of all assets in Which the defendant has or had any direct or indirect ﬁna_nciél interest or
| control, and any assets involved in fhe offense of ;:onviction.. The defendant agrees to take all
steps requested by the United States for the recovery and forfeiture of all assets identified by the
United States as subj ec_:t to forfeitu;e. This includes, but is ﬁot lirﬁited tp, the timely delivery upon
request of all necessary" and appropriate documentation to d,eliverﬂ- ngd and ‘marketable title,-
consenting to all orders of forfeiture, and not contesting or impeding in any way with any criminal,
- civil or adminisirativc forfeiture proceeding concerning the forfeiture.
20.  In furtherance of the satisfaction of a forfeiture money judgment to be entered by
the Court in this case, the .defendant agrees to the following;:
(i) submit a financial statement to the Offices upon reciuest, within 14 calendar days from
a request by the offices; |
~ (i1) maintain any. gsset valued in excess of $10,000, and not éell, hide, waste, encumber,
destroy, or otherwise devalue such asset without prior approval of the Unitéd States;
(iii) provide informaﬁon about any transfer of an asset valued in excess of $10,000 since
the commencement of the offeilse} conduct in this case to date;

(iv) cooperate fully in the investigation and the identification of assets, including
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liquidating assets, meeting with representatives of the United States, and providing any
documentation requested; and

(v) notify, within 30 days, the Clerk of the Court for the Southern District of Florida and

the Offices of: (i) anjf change of name, Vr’esidence, or mailing address, and (ii) any
material ehange in economic circumstances.

21. The defendant further understands that providing false or incomplete information
about assets, concealing assets, making materially false statements o/r representations, or making '
or using false writings or documents pertaining to assets, téiking any action that would impede the
ferfeiture of assets, or failing to cooperate fully in the investigation and identification of assets
may be used as a basis for: (i) separate prosecution, including, under 18 U.S.C. § 1001; or
(ii) recommendation of a denial of a reduction for acceptance of fesponsibility pursuant to the
~ United States Sentencing Guidelines § 3E1.1. |
22.  The defendant is aware that Title 18, United States Code, Section 3742 and-Title
28, United States Code, Section 1291 afford the defendant the right to appeal the sentence imposed
in this case. Acknowledging this, in exchange for the undertakings mede by the Offices in this

plea agreement the defendant hereby waives all rights conferred by Sections 3742 and 1291 to
appeal any sentence 1mposed including any restitution order, or to appeal the manner in which the
sentence was imposed, unless the sentence exceeds the maximum permitted by statute or is the
result of an upward departure and/or an upWard variance from the advisory guideline range that
tne Court establishes at ‘sentencing. The defendant further understands that nothing ‘in this
agreement shall affect the Offices’ right and/or duty to appeal as set forth in Title 18, United States

" Code, Section ‘3742(b) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 1291. However, if the Offices

10
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appeal the defendant’s sentence pursuant to Sections 3742(b) and 1291, the defendant shall be

released from the above waiver of appellate rights. In addition to the foregoing provisions, the

~ defendant -hereby waives all rights to argue on appeal that the statute to which the defendant is

pleading guilty is unconstitutional and that the admitted conduct does not fall within the scope of
the statute. By signing this agreement, the defendant acknowledges that the defendant has
discussed the appeal waiver set forth in this agreement with the defendant’s attorney.

23. The defendant recognizes that pleading guilty may have consequences with respect

to the defendant’s immigration status if the defendant is not a citizen of the United States. Under

federal law, a broad range of crimes are removable offenses, including the offense to which the

defendant is pleading guilty. Indeed, because the defendant is pleading guilty to conspiraéy to

‘commit money laundering, removal is presumptively mandatory. Removal and other

immigration consequences are the subject of a separate proceeding, however, and the defendant.

understands that no one, including the defendant’s attorney or the Coﬁrt, can predict to a certainty
the effect of the defendant’s conviction on the defendant’s immigration status. The defendant
nevertheless affirms that the defendant wants to plead guilty regardless of any immigration.
consequencqs that the defendant’s plea may entail, even if the consequence is the defendanf’s

automatic removal from the United States.

24.  The Offices and the defendant stipulate to and agree not to contest the facts in the
Factual Proffer, and stipulate that such facts, in accordance with Rule 11(b)(3) of the Federal Rules

of Criminal Procedure, provide a sufficient factual basis for the plea of guilty in this case. The

defendant 'agrees that the facts in the Factual Proffer are true and correct to the best of the

defendant’s knowledge. Because the factual basis set forth in the Factual Proffer has the limited

11
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- purpose of supporting fhe defendant’s guilty plea to the charge discussed in paragraph 2, the factual

basis set forth in the Factual Proffer does not purport to represent all facts and circumstances

- relating to the defendant’s participation. Similarly, the factual basis in the Factual Proffer is not

- intended to identify all knowledge the defendant mi;ght have of the unlawful activity of other
individuals.
25. - Effective as of the date the defendant signs this agreement, and notwithstanding

any other subsequent event, including but not limited to in the event the defendant fails to plead

guilty, the Court refuses to accept the defendant’s guilty plea, or the defendant withdraws (or

~ attempts to withdraw) from this agreement, or should the Offices, in their sole discretion,

determine that the defendant has failed to fully comply with any of the terms of this plea agreement,

the Offices will be released from their obligations under this agreement, and the defendant agrees

and understands that:-

»(a) the defendant hereby waives any protection afforded by any proffer letter agreement
between the parties;

(b) the defendant will not assert any claim under the Federal Rules of Evidence (including
‘Rule 410 of the Federal Rules of Evidence), the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure (including
- Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure), or the United States Sentencing Guidelines
(including U.S.S.G. § 1B1.1(a)) that the Factual Proffer entered in connection with this Plea

Agreement should be suppressed or is otherwise inadmissible as evidence (in any form);

() any statements made by the defendant as part of the plea discussions, any debriefings

or interviews, or in this agreement, whether made prior to or after the execution of this agreement,

12
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will be admissible against him without any limitation in any civil or criminal proceeding brought
by the Offices;
© (d) the-defendant’s waiver of any defeﬁse based on the statute of limitations and venue,

including the waiver set forth in this agreément, or any defense based on the passage of time in
filing an Indictment or vSupersedin‘g Information, referred to hgfein, shall remain in full forc;: and
effect; |

(e) the defendant stipulates to the admissibility and authentiéity, iﬁ‘any case brought by the
United States in any way related to the facts referred to.in fhis agreément, of any documents
provided by the défendant or the defendant’s representativesvto any state or federal agency and/or
the Offices; and

® the defendant has adopted the entire factual basis as the defendant’s statements, and the
defendant has stipulated to the admissibility of the Factual Proffer in any case brought by the
- United States as substantive evidenc¢ offered by the government in its case-in-chief and rebuttal
case; impeachment evidence offered by the government on cross-examination; andievidenc;e at any

sentencing hearing or other hearing.

[INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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26.  This is the entire agreement and understanding between the Offices and the
defendant. There are no other agreements, promises, representations, or understandings.

MARKENZY LAPOINTE
UNIT TATES ATTORNEY

Date: 3/ lﬁ/ 2-3 By:

KURT ¥, LUNKENHEIMER
ASSISTANT UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

GLENN'S. LEON
CHIEF FRAUD SECTION
S. Department of Justice, Criminal Division

e 2]99]93

PAUL A. HAYDEN
TRIAL ATTORNEY

e 22\ RM&M

: OSCAR S. RODRIGUEZ, %
AN

ATTORNEY FOR DEFEND
Date: O;\O;L &035 MVOV\S g(?@l@ %3(\
\ ALVARO LEPONASS
3 by - ~ DEFENDANT
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